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Hugh Caperton II built "Elrawood" in the 1830s of bricks burned on the place 
and of timbers from his trees. The pits from which the clay was dug are still 
visible in the field near the house. It is a colonial-designed building with 
Classic Revival innovations.

The house is almost square with chimneys built into thick, twenty-two inch 
walls. The roof is low and inconspicuous and is set off by a captain's walk. 
Large windows with 6/6 panes balance each other, and the very formal entrance 
doorway is framed by sidelights and fanlight.

The floor plan, used often in southern colonial houses, has a hall extending 
through the depth of the house on each of the three floors with two, 20 x 17 foot 
rooms on each side. At the right rear of each hall a stairway leads to the next 
level. In the attic are stairs to the captain's walk. The roof support is a 
remarkable structure of great 7 and 10 inch whipsawn timbers, pegged and morticed. 
The brick work of the house is Flemish bond.

Much Greek Revival influence is shown by the carved cornice under the wide 
eaves, by the classic pediment with fanlight over the veranda, and by the beauti­ 
fully carved woodwork throughout the house.

The wide limestone steps and the stately veranda, with its second-story 
balcony, Chinese Chippendale railings at both levels, and four plain but huge plas­ 
ter covered brick columns, give "Elmwood" its southern colonial appearance, and 
under the veranda there is a brick paved porte-cochere. The broad, eight panel, 
"two-cross" door has sidelights between pairs of reeded and fluted pilasters and 
an overdoor fan of ornate mullions and glass. This framing has the pointed dentil 
moulding of the eave cornice which was carried, also, into the interior of the 
house.

The formal entrance and halls are a special feature of "Elmwood". An arch 
at the center, which divides the halls, has pilasters with Doric cornice. The 
arch is carved with the design of the entrance fanlight, and its underside is 
entirely reeded. At the height of ten feet around the hall is a molded gesso strip 
with fleur-de-lis, and the wainscot is paneled to chairrail height.

On the right of the entrance are two formal rooms. The front one is a parlor; 
the rear is now used as a dining room. These rooms are divided by an arch across 
their width and, until the early 1900s, two sets of folding doors, shaped to fill 
the arch, were used to separate them. In each room is a beautiful black, Italian 
marble mantel and hearth with iron fire frame and back. These rooms have deep 
chairrails and window framing to the baseboards with panels under the windows. 
The baseboards are painted to resemble the marble of the mantels.

Door and window trim throughout the three levels of the house is reeded 
and fluted with lintel medallions and is joined with wooden pegs. All the doors, 
except the front door, are pegged, six-panel cross, and all have the original 
English crown box locks with brass knobs. Many of the doors have been finished 
with very artistic false graining.

The rooms on the left of the main hall were used as a "master bed-living 
room" and as the formal dining room. The first is still so used but the rear 
room has been partitioned in recent years to provide a bath-dressing room and a 
kitchen (the house had an outside kitchen in the 19th century). These rooms have 
large, hand-carved mantels, as do the rooms on the upper level and those on the
ground level. Ceilings on the main floor are 12 feet high, while those on the 
upper floor are 12 and % feet and those in the basement are 9 feet.
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7. DESCRIPTION (Continued)

The upper floor has its wide hall with a door leading to the veranda balcony. 
The door has over and side lighting. The four rooms on this level are bedrooms, 
and each one has a large built-in closet with paneled doors. These closets were 
placed in the outside corner of the room and blocked out a dummy window; the 
shutters at these windows have always been closed. On this floor, also, one room 
has been partitioned to provide a very large bathroom.

The ground floor contained two bedrooms which are now used as furnace and 
game rooms. On the left are two rooms divided by a broad arch with pairs of 
double doors. These rooms were used as family dining area and a "keeping room".

To the rear of the three halls is a wainscoted stairwell which reaches from 
ground level to attic. The stringers and landing's edges are nicely carved. 
The heavy, round cherry handrail and the broad treads were left unpainted to match 
the fine floors. The balusters are square and two to a step. Wooden pegs were 
used in all the work. It is believed that the woodwork has always been painted 
and the walls papered. "Elmwood" was the work of excellent builders and finishers 
maybe John W. Dunn and Conrod Burgess, who were famous workmen, for they lived not 
far from the house.

The first house called "Elmwood" was used by Hugh Caperton until the present 
house was built, then it was used as kitchen, servants' quarters and law office. 
About 1906, this house was torn down and with another brick structure that stood 
nearby, was used to build a very large and solid barn. This barn and many other 
outbuildings, some originals, are in use and in good condition.

The shake roof of "Elmwood" has been covered by a metal one for many years. 
A wide, two-story porch was added on the east and north side in 1910, as were the 
large limestone front steps.

Since 1945, the Grover Mitchells, the present owners, have built the parti­ 
tions in two bedrooms to provide bathrooms and have installed a central heating 
system. The house is tastefully furnished with period pieces.
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At the time when the mineral springs of western Virginia were moving into a 
period of great popularity, Hugh Caperton II built "Elmwood". In the years following 
his arrival in Monroe County in 1799, he had become a very successful merchant and 
had acquired much land, and his business interests extended into other parts of 
Virginia. For several years he represented his county in the State Legislature and 
was a Representative to the United States Congress from 1813 to 1815. Since he 
had amassed a large fortune, it seems quite natural that he should build a house 
worthy of a man of his station and wealth.

The house built to replace the earlier "Elmwood" was a stately colonial mansion 
constructed of the brick clay and timber from the land. All other materials were 
hauled in over wagon trails from sources as distant as Stauntbn, Charlottesville 
and Lynchburg. However, there was plenty of money and skilled labor needed to build 
the type of house that the .'Capertons-, desired. Some members of the family believe 
VElmwood" was copied after the home of a Mr. Garth in Charlottesville, Virginia.

Family tradition has it that Hugh Caperton and his son, Alien Taylor Caperton, 
who inherited "Elmwood" and was a notable lawyer and political figure, entertained 
many of the famous people and families who visited the numerous sulphur springs of 
the region. In fact, Henry Clay came so often to visit that one of the bedrooms 
was designated as the "Henry Clay room".

Hugh Caperton 1 s grandfather, John Caperton, came from France to Philadelphia 
in 1725, then into Augusta County, Virginia, in 1759, and on to the New River in 
the 1760s. Two of John's sons, Hugh I and Adam, fought in Dunmore's War and the 
American Revolution. A few years after the war, Hugh I took his family to Kentucky 
and soon afterwards he was killed by Indians. Hugh II returned to Rich Creek in 
western Virginia and lived with his uncle until 1799, when he moved to the newly 
organized Monroe County.

Hugh II married Jane Erskine at "Walnut Grove", another fine house near Union, 
West Virginia. After she died, he married Delilah Bierne (nee Alexander), widow 
of George Bierne of "Walnut Grove", in 1834, Not long after the marriage, the 
Hugh Capertons built the present "Elmwood", where Hugh died in 1847.

Alien T. Caperton, born in 1810, was graduated from Yale (1832), studied law 
in Staunton, Virginia, and established a wide practice in Monroe and surrounding 
counties. Very interested in politics, he represented Monroe in the Virginia 
Assembly in 1841, 1859-61, and was State Senator in 1844-48. In addition, Alien 
Caperton was a member of the Virginia Constitutional Convention in 1850, a 
delegate to the Secession Conference at Richmond, and served as a Senator of the 
Confederate Congress during the Civil War. He was then elected to the U.S. Senate 
from West Virginia in 1875, the first ex-Confederate elected to the United States 
Senate after the Civil War. He died the following year while in office.
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